MISSISSIPPI SUPREME COURT

DOCKET NO. 2007-SA-02063

FLORIDA EASH

Respondent/Appellant

v.

IMPERIAL PALACE OF MISSISSIPPI

Petitioner/Appellee

ON APPEAL FROM A FINAL JUDGMENT OF THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE SECOND JUDICIAL DISTRICT OF HARRISON COUNTY, MISSISSIPPI IN CAUSE NO. A2402-07-62

BRIEF OF RESPONDENT/APPELLANT, FLORIDA EASH

PAUL M. NEWTON, JR. (MBN NEWTON AND HOFF, L.L.P. P. O. Box 910 Gulfport, MS 39502-0910 Tel: (228) 863-8827

JONATHAN B. FAIRBANK (MBN 460 Briarwood Drive, Suite 500 Jackson, MS 39206 Tel: (601) 956-8999

Attorneys for Respondent/Appellant FLORIDA EASH

ORAL ARGUMENT REQUESTED

1. CERTIFICATE OF INTERESTED PARTIES

5.	Summary of the Argument						
6.	Argument 8 I. Legal Standard 8 II. Statutory Analysis 8						
	A. No Substantial Prejudice to Petitioner/Appellee Imperial Palace						
	B.	Review of Statutory Prongs Under "Any Evidence" Standard 10					
		(1)	No U	nlawful	Procedure 10		
		(2)	Not Arbitrary, Capricious or Not in Accordance with Law 1				
			(a)	The F	inal Order is Not Arbitrary or Capricious 11		
			(b)	The F	inal Order is In Accordance with Law 13		
				(i)	Burden of Proof Before Hearing Examiner 13		
			ii	(ii)	Administrative Process Not Limited to Contract Law Determination		
				(iii)	Effect of Prior Decisions 15		
7.	Conclusion						
Certifi	cate of Service			•••••			

TABLE OF CASES, STATUTES AND OTHER AUTHORITIES

1. CASES

.

ŝ

ŝ

÷

: 1

IGT v. Kelly, 778 So.2d 773 (Miss. 2001)
Minnefield v. Harrah's Casino, Vicksburg, Mississippi Gaming Commission Hearing Examiner Decision, case number 95-PD (April 3, 1995) 13, 14
Mississippi Gaming Commission v. Board of Education, 691 So.2d 452 (Miss. 1997), reh'g denied, 695 So.2d 601 (Miss. 1997) 8, 11, 14
Mississippi Gaming Commission v. Freeman, 747 So.2d 231 (Miss. 1999) 8, 10, 14
Mississippi State Department of Health v. Southwest Mississippi Medical Center, 580 So.2d 1238 (Miss. 1991)11
Morrissey v. Beau Rivage, Biloxi, Mississippi Gaming Commission Hearing Examiner Decision, case number 99-00319 (July 23, 1999)
OXY USA, Inc. v. Mississippi State Tax Commission, 757 So.2d 271 (Miss. 2000)8
Reeves v. Riverboat Corporation of Mississippi d/b/a Isle of Capri, Vicksburg, Mississippi Gaming Commission Hearing Examiner Decision, case number 95 D (November 2, 1995)
Town of Enterprise v. Mississippi Public Service Commission, 782 So.2d 733 (Miss. 2001)
Williams v. ITT Sheraton Casino Tunica, Mississippi Gaming Commission Hearing Examiner Decision (June 16, 1996)
2. STATUTES
Miss. Code Ann. § 75-76-3 (2) (b) ,
Miss. Code Ann. § 75-76-3 (2) (b)
Miss. Code Ann. § 75-76-27
Miss. Code Ann. § 75-76-119 (2) 10, 14
Miss. Code Ann § 75-76-163 (1) 7, 14
Miss. Code Ann. § 75-76-171 (3) 6-10, 12, 13

Mis	ss. Code Ann. § 75-76-171 (3) (a) 10
Mis	ss. Code Ann. § 75-76-171 (3) (b)
Mis	ss. Code Ann. § 75-76-171 (3) (c) 10
Mis	ss. Code Ann. § 75-76-171 (3) (d) 8, 10
Mis	ss. Code Ann. § 75-76-171 (3) (e)
3. OTHER	AUTHORITY	
МС	C Mission Statement	

5

ŧ

ι.

3. STATEMENT OF ISSUES

The issue before this Court is whether the Final Order of the Mississippi Gaming Commission [hereafter the "MGC" or the "Commission"], granting appellant Florida Eash a \$1,000,000 jackpot, should be upheld by this Court. This Court reviews the Circuit Court's Order reversing the MGC's Final Order *de novo*, and should defer to the MGC's Final Order if there is "any evidence" to support such order. Thus, the MGC's Final Order must be upheld unless the substantial rights of petitioner/appellee Imperial Palace were prejudiced under Miss. Code Ann. § 75-76-171 (3), after review under the "unsupported by any evidence" standard.

4. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

The parties agree that appellant Florida Eash, while playing a "Double Top Dollar" slot machine manufactured and programmed by International Game Technology [hereinafter "IGT"] at the casino of petitioner/appellee Imperial Palace of Mississippi, L.L.C [hereinafter "Imperial Palace"], won a jackpot. The parties further agree that the display on the top portion of the Double Top Dollar machine indicated that Ms. Eash's jackpot totaled \$1,000,000. However, appellee Imperial Palace refused to satisfy the indicated \$1,000,000 jackpot, contending that the provisions on the machine's "belly glass" indicated that Ms. Eash's combination yielded only an \$8,000 jackpot. Ms. Eash rejected Imperial Palace's offer of \$8,000, and initiated a patron dispute for the indicated \$1,000,000 jackpot.

The MGC investigating agent determined, and the parties agree, that the Double Top Dollar machine functioned as programmed by IGT, *i.e., the machine did not malfunction*. However, IGT (an undisclosed party-in-interest who by contract must indemnify appellee Imperial Palace for any jackpot in excess of \$8,000) contends that it programmed its machine incorrectly, that its self-described "human error" caused the machine to indicate a jackpot of \$1,000,000, and that Ms. Eash is entitled only to the purportedly "correct" jackpot of \$8,000.

After due consideration, MGC Executive Director Larry K. Gregory issued a written decision that Ms. Eash was entitled to the \$1,000,000 jackpot indicated on the properly functioning machine. The Executive Director's decision, under Miss. Code Ann § 75-76-163 (1), is presumed correct.

Petitioner/appellee Imperial Palace then filed a Petition for Reconsideration with the MGC. Hearing Examiner Myers, citing prior hearing examiner opinions, reversed the MCG Executive Director's presumptively correct decision.

On Ms. Eash's ensuing appeal, the MGC stressed its responsibility to guard the integrity of the Mississippi gaming industry. The MGC further emphasized that our gaming industry's continued success mandates that the public's perception of fairness in the industry be safeguarded by the MGC. Accordingly, the MGC entered a "Final Order" setting aside the hearing examiner's decision, and reinstating Executive Director Gregory's determination in favor of patron Eash.

On appeal by Imperial Palace, the Circuit Court of Harrison County reversed the MGC, finding that "the final order of the Commission was not in accordance with law, was arbitrary and maybe capricious, and was made upon unlawful procedure, thereby prejudicing the substantial rights" of Imperial Palace. [Record Excerpts, Volume 1, at 59]. Appellant Eash requests that this Court, after *de novo* review of the Circuit Court's Order of reversal, reinstate the MGC's Final Order.

5. SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

Unless petitioner/appellee Imperial Palace establishes both (i) that its substantial rights were prejudiced under one of the statutory prongs of Miss. Code Ann. § 75-76-171 (3), and (ii) that the Final Order is unsupported by any evidence in the record upon which the MGC could rule in favor of Eash, the MGC's Final Order *must* be affirmed and reinstated. Since this Court

7

reviews the Circuit Court's ruling *de novo*, the issue before this Court is <u>not</u> the propriety of the Circuit Court's Order, but whether the MGC's Final Order should be upheld under the two-step analysis.

6. ARGUMENT

I. LEGAL STANDARD

Miss. Code Ann. § 75-76-171 (3) mandates that this Court uphold and reinstate the MGC's Final Order unless

the substantial rights of the petitioner [*i.e.*, Imperial Palace] have been prejudiced because the Final Order is \ldots

(c) Made upon unlawful procedure;

Ł

- (d) Unsupported by any evidence; or
- (e) Arbitrary or capricious or otherwise not in accordance with law.

This Court reviews a lower Court's decision on an agency's action *de novo*. OXY USA, Inc. v. Mississippi State Tax Commission, 757 So.2d 271, 274 (Miss. 2000). Further, this Court reviews the agency's action under the same deferential standard as the lower court, Town of Enterprise v. Mississippi Public Service Commission, 782 So.2d 733, 735 (Miss. 2001), and must afford great deference to this MGC decision that "is consistent with its own published policies." Mississippi Gaming Commission v. Board of Education, 691 So.2d 452, 459 (Miss. 1997), reh'g denied, 695 So.2d 601 (Miss. 1997). Finally the MGC's Final Order should be upheld if it is supported under each prong of Miss. Code Ann. § 75-76-171 (3) by "any evidence." Mississippi Gaming Commission v. Freeman, 747 So.2d 231, 241 (Miss. 1999) (Commission's decision upheld if any evidence in support); IGT v. Kelly, 778 So.2d 773, 775-76 (Miss. 2001) (applying "any evidence" standard in determining whether decision appealed was, under Miss. Code Ann. § 75-76-171 (3) (e), arbitrary or capricious).

The MGC's "own published policies," as set forth in its Mission Statement, emphasize its

discretion in maintaining public confidence and trust; stating:

The mission of the Mississippi Gaming Commission (MGC) is to enforce the Gaming Control Act and Charitable Gaming Laws of the State of Mississippi. The MGC will establish and enforce regulations under the authority of those laws *in such a manner* that will ensure the integrity of the State of Mississippi and maintain the public confidence in both the charitable gaming and casino gaming industries

This MGC policy comports with the State of Mississippi's public policy to strictly regulate licensed gaming to ensure "public confidence and trust" in the industry, Miss. Code Ann. § 75-76-3 (2) (b), and with the MGC Executive Director's duty to administer the Gaming Control Act "for the protection of the public and in the public interest in accordance with the policy of this state." Miss. Code Ann. § 75-76-27 (1).

The MGC in the present case determined that successful patron Eash should be awarded the jackpot amount reflected on a machine which undisputedly functioned as programmed. The MGC's conclusion that the integrity of the State of Mississippi and the public's confidence in the casino gaming industry are best ensured by awarding the indicated jackpot was within its discretion, furthered its mission, and should be upheld by this Court.

II. STATUTORY ANALYSIS

A. No Substantial Prejudice to Petitioner/Appellee Imperial Palace

As the first part of the two-step analysis under Miss. Code Ann. § 75-76-171 (3), this Court must determine the effect of the MGC's Final Order on the *petitioner*. Significantly, *petitioner/appellee Imperial Palace* was not prejudiced in any manner by the MGC's Final Order because petitioner/appellee Imperial Palace is indemnified by IGT for any jackpot in excess of the conceded \$8,000 amount. Since petitioner Imperial Palace's is liable for \$8,000 (and only \$8,000) under all circumstances, the substantial rights of petitioner Imperial Palace cannot have been prejudiced by the MGC's Final Order, and such Final Order therefore should be reinstated by this Court.¹

B. Review of Statutory Prongs Under "Any Evidence" Standard

If this Court determines (for whatever reason) that the MGC's Final Order somehow prejudiced *petitioner Imperial Palace*, this Court must then consider whether such Order prejudiced petitioner Imperial Palace's substantial rights under one of the five prongs of Miss. Code Ann. § 75-76-171 (3).² In making this determination, the Court should uphold such Order if, as to each prong of Miss. Code Ann. § 75-76-171 (3), "any evidence" exists upon which the MGC could have made such ruling. *Mississippi Gaming Commission v. Freeman,* 747 So.2d at 241 (Commission's decision upheld if **any** evidence in support); *IGT v. Kelly,* 778 So.2d at 775-76 (applying "any evidence" standard in determining whether decision appealed was, under Miss. Code Ann. § 75-76-171 (3) (e), arbitrary or capricious).

(1) No Unlawful Procedure

Notwithstanding the Circuit Court's ambiguous determination that the MGC's Final Order was "made upon unlawful procedure," *see* Miss. Code Ann. § 75-76-171 (3) (c), the MGC is statutorily empowered to review its appointed hearing examiner's decision "on such terms and conditions as it may deem just and proper to review the decision and recommendation." Miss. Code Ann. § 75-76-119 (2). All parties, including petitioner/appellee Imperial Palace, had legal representation before the MGC, the issues were fully briefed, and the MGC's procedures complied with Miss. Code Ann. § 75-76-119 (2) and other applicable statutes. At the very least,

¹ Petitioner Imperial Palace's counsel of record actually represent the interests of IGT. Opposing counsel **deliberately** omitted IGT--the entity facing all contested liability--from its Certificate to the Circuit Court of Interested Parties. Opposing counsels' omission of the only entity facing out-of-pocket costs due to the Final Order underscores their recognition that the MGC's Final Order could not prejudice petitioner Imperial Palace.

² For brevity, appellant Eash shall discuss only Miss. Code Ann. § 75-76-171 (3) (c), (d) & (e), which provisions are pertinent to the Circuit Court's Order. If appellee Imperial Palace asserts that Miss. Code Ann. § 75-76-171 (3) (a) or (b) are here relevant, appellant Eash shall discuss such provisions on response.

the record contains evidence upon which the MGC's its procedures could be found lawful, and the MGC's Final Order, under the "any evidence" standard, should be upheld.

(2) Not Arbitrary, Capricious or Not in Accordance with Law

Petitioner's assertion the MGC's Final Order must be reversed under Miss. Code Ann. §

75-76-171 (3) (e) as "arbitrary, capricious, and not in accordance with law" is without merit.

(a) The Final Order is Not Arbitrary or Capricious

This Court, in determining whether an administrative agency's action is "arbitrary" or

"capricious," has adopted the following definitions:

"Arbitrary" means fixed or done capriciously or at pleasure. An act is arbitrary when it is done without adequately determining principle; not done according to reason or judgment, but depending on the will alone,-absolute in power, tyrannical, despotic, non-rational,-implying either a lack of understanding of or a disregard for the fundamental nature of things.

"Capricious" means freakish, fickle, or arbitrary. An act is capricious when it is done without reason, in a whimsical manner, implying either a lack of understanding of or a disregard for the surrounding facts and settled controlling principles

Mississippi Gaming Commission v. Board of Education, 691 So.2d at 458-59 (Miss. 1997); accord, Mississippi State Department of Health v. Southwest Mississippi Medical Center, 580 So.2d 1238, 1240 (Miss. 1991). This Court has recognized that "arbitrary" and "capricious" are "open-ended and not susceptible of precise definition or mechanical application," 580 So.2d at 1240. Nonetheless, the underlying issue is not whether the agency's analysis is perfect, but whether **some** basis exists for the agency's determination. *Id.* at 1242; *cf. IGT v. Kelly*, 778 So.2d at 775-76 (applying "any evidence" standard in determining whether decision appealed was arbitrary or capricious).

The Mississippi Gaming Commission, in determining that Ms. Eash was entitled to the reflected jackpot amount, emphasized its careful review of the record, and its responsibility to

"ensure the integrity of the State of Mississippi and maintain the public confidence in . . . casino gaming industries." MGC Mission Statement, *supra* at 9.

Chairman Pe stressed the MGC's mission to the public, stating "The Commission has a broader responsibility in some cases, without ignoring the law or regulations, to ensure that reasonable fairness or a perception of fairness prevails." Mississippi Gaming Commission Minutes, March 15, 2007. [Record Excerpts, Document 65 at 572]. Commissioner Hairston similarly commented that "the Commission must continue to exercise a degree of diligence and guard the reputation of fairness in our gaming industry." [Record Excerpts, Document 65 at 571]. Finally, Commissioner Canon noted that "It is the responsibility of this Commission to maintain the public trust and integrity." [Record Excerpts, Document 65 at 571].

The Commissioners' seriousness in considering this patron dispute is memorialized by the record of the MGC's March 15, 2007 meeting in which its decision was orally rendered. For example, Commissioner Hairston stated:

We sincerely hope that both sides realize the amount of time and energy that the agency and commissioners all spent in reaching a resolution. This was not at all a flippant decision.

[Record Excerpts, Document 65 at 571].

1.1

÷

÷.

Similarly, Commissioner Canon emphasized the Commission's careful review of the

record and it responsibilities in patron disputes, noting that the Commission had

conducted an extensive review of the record and did not take this responsibility lightly. It is the responsibility of this Commission to maintain the public trust and integrity.

[Record Excerpts, Document 65 at 571].

In view of the Commissioners' statements, Imperial Palace cannot credibly contend that the MGC's thoughtful ruling was arbitrary or capricious under Miss. Code Ann. § 75-76-171 (3) (e). Rather, the MGC's decision was supported under Miss. Code Ann. § 75-76-171 (3) (e) by evidence in the record, and should be given deference and reinstated by this Court. See IGT v. Kelly, 778 So.2d at 775-76 (applying "any evidence" standard in determining whether decision appealed was arbitrary or capricious).

(b) The Final Order is In Accordance with Law

Petitioner Imperial Palace's argument that the MGC was required to employ a contract analysis to reach its decision is unmeritorious for at least three reasons. First, the MGC's Final Order accords with the hearing examiner decisions cited by petitioner, due to the burden of proof imposed on Imperial Palace. Secondly, the MGC is not limited in its administrative process to determination of points of contract law, but may permissibly consider other matters. Finally, the MGC is not bound in perpetuity by its prior decisions or by prior hearing examiner decisions, particularly hearing examiner opinions which became MGC decisions due to lack of any appeal.

(i) Burden of Proof Before Hearing Examiner

Notwithstanding petitioner Imperial Palace's assertions before the Circuit Court, the MGC's Final Order comports with the hearing examiner decisions in *Minnefield v. Harrah's Casino, Vicksburg*, Mississippi Gaming Commission Hearing Examiner Decision, case number 95-PD (April 3, 1995), *Morrissey v. Beau Rivage, Biloxi*, Mississippi Gaming Commission Hearing Examiner Decision, case number 99-00319 (July 23, 1999), *Reeves v. Riverboat Corporation of Mississippi d/b/a Isle of Capri, Vicksburg*, Mississippi Gaming Commission Hearing Examiner Decision, case number 95-____- D (November 2, 1995), and *Williams v. ITT Sheraton Casino Tunica*, Mississippi Gaming Commission Hearing Examiner Decision, case number 95-___- D (November 2, 1995), and *Williams v. ITT Sheraton Casino Tunica*, Mississippi Gaming Commission Hearing Examiner Decision (June 16, 1996), due to the burden of proof imposed on the party seeking reconsideration.³

³ Although Imperial Palace in the hearings below also cited decisions from other jurisdictions, such decisions are not binding on either the MGC or this Court. IGT v. Kelly, 778 So.2d at 777 & 779.

Miss. Code Ann § 75-76-163 (1) sets forth the standard of review in an appeal of the Executive Director's decision to the hearing examiner, providing:

The party seeking reconsideration bears the burden of showing that the executive director's decision should be reversed or modified.

Unlike the present case, the Executive Director in *Minnefield, Morrissey, Reeves* and *Williams* rendered presumptively correct decisions in *favor* of the casino. The Hearing Examiner on appeal affirmed the Executive Director's decisions, agreeing either that the evidence supported the Executive Director's decision, *see Morrissey* at 5, *Minnefield* at 4, or that that the party seeking reconsideration did not demonstrate that the Executive Director's decision was incorrect, *see Reeves* at 11 & 12.

In the present case, the Executive Director's presumptively correct decision in favor of patron Eash was *reversed* by the Hearing Examiner. The record contains evidence upon which the MGC could conclude that petitioner Imperial Palace *did not satisfy* its burden of proving that the Executive Director's decision in favor of Ms. Eash should be reversed. This Court must treat the MGC's Final Order with deference.

(ii) Administrative Process Not Limited to Contract Law Determination

This Court recognizes that the administrative process of the MGC is "not limited to the common law theories of meeting of the minds or other points of contract law." *IGT v. Kelly*, 778 So.2d at 777. Instead, the MGC is statutorily empowered to review hearing examiner's decision "on such terms and conditions as it may deem just and proper to review the decision and recommendation." Miss. Code Ann. § 75-76-119 (2). As discussed *supra* at 8 & 9, the MGC's decision is entitled to great deference, *Mississippi Gaming Commission v. Board of Education*, 691 So.2d at 459, and is reviewed under the "any evidence" standard. *Mississippi Gaming Commission v. Freeman*, 747 So.2d at 241; *IGT v. Kelly*, 778 So.2d at 775-76.

14

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