## IN THE MISSISSIPPI SUPREME COURT

**FLORIDA EASH** 

APPELLANT

VERSUS

**DOCKET NO. 2007-SA-02063** 

IMPERIAL PALACE OF MISSISSIPPI, LLC

**APPELLEE** 

# BRIEF OF APPELLEE IMPERIAL PALACE OF MISSISSIPPI, LLC

Scott. E. Andress
Tara P. Ellis
Balch & Bingham LLP
401 E. Capitol Street
Suite 200
Jackson, MS 39201
(601) 961-9900
Facsimile: (601) 961-4466
sandress@balch.com
tellis@balch.com

H. Rodger Wilder
Balch & Bingham LLP
1310 25<sup>th</sup> Avenue
Gulfport, MS 39501
(228) 864-9900
Facsimile: (228) 864-8221
rwilder@balch.com

Ronald G. Peresich
Ronald G. Peresich, Jr.
Page Mannino Peresich & McDermott,
P.L.L.C.
P. O. Box 289
Biloxi, MS 39533-0289
(228) 374-2100

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

# **SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT**

In rendering its decision in favor of Eash, the MGC ignored established contract law supporting IP's position that the terms of Eash's wagering contract with IP, as articulated by the signage on the subject machine, determine the proper award. The MGC also refused to follow several of its prior decisions that involved substantially similar facts and arguments as in the present case. Also, the Executive Director, contrary to MGC procedure as established by the Mississippi Gaming Control Act, recommended that the MGC reverse the Hearing Examiner, thereby upholding his own prior decision. Further, the MGC apparently based its decision on public perception, of which it had no evidence, and which it was not authorized to consider. The decision of the MGC is therefore in violation of constitutional provisions, in excess of the statutory authority or jurisdiction of the MGC, made upon unlawful procedure, unsupported by any evidence, arbitrary or capricious, and otherwise not in accordance with law, thereby prejudicing the substantial rights of IP. This Honorable Court should affirm the decision of the Circuit Court of Harrison County reversing the final order of the MGC, and render a decision in favor of IP.

#### **ARGUMENT**

#### I. STANDARD OF REVIEW

Throughout the Brief of Respondent/Appellant Florida Eash (hereinafter "Eash's Brief"), Eash clearly misstates the standard of review. She repeatedly and erroneously states that the Court must uphold the decision of the MGC if the Court finds that there is any evidence to support the MGC's decision. *See* Eash's Brief, pp. 6, 7, 8, 10, 11, 13, 14, 15 and 16. However, "unsupported by any evidence" is only one of five possible bases upon which the Court may reverse a MGC decision. The Mississippi Gaming Control Act provides the standard of review for decisions of the MGC:

The reviewing court may ... reverse the decision if the substantial rights of the petitioner have been prejudiced because the decision is:

- (a) In violation of constitutional provisions;
- (b) In excess of the statutory authority or jurisdiction of the commission;
- (c) Made upon unlawful procedure;
- (d) Unsupported by any evidence; or
- (e) Arbitrary or capricious or otherwise not in accordance with law.

MISS. CODE ANN. § 75-76-171(3) (emphasis added). A plain reading of the statute, specifically the use of the disjunctive "or," clearly shows that the "any evidence" standard repeatedly cited in Eash's Brief is only one possible base for reversal of the MGC's decision. Thus, rather than only being able to reverse the MGC's decision if the reviewing Court finds that it is unsupported by any evidence, the Court may reverse the decision if it finds that the decision violated constitutional provisions; is in excess of the statutory authority or jurisdiction of the MGC; is made upon unlawful procedure; is unsupported by any evidence; or is arbitrary or capricious or otherwise not in accordance with the law. Even if the MGC's decision is supported by evidence,

Norton, 292 F.Supp.2d 30, 42 (D.D.C. 2003) (in statutory construction, word "or" is to be given its normal disjunctive meaning unless such construction renders provision in question repugnant to other provisions of statute or context indicates otherwise); Brown v. Budget Rent-A-Car Sys., Inc., 119 F.3d 922, 924 (11th Cir. 1997) (use of disjunctive in statute generally indicates alternatives and requires that those alternatives be treated separately); U.S. v. Smeathers, 884 F.2d 363, 364 (8th Cir. 1989) (the word "or" indicates disjunction unless a disjunctive reading would frustrate a clear statement of legislative intent); Knutzen v. Eben Ezer Lutheran Hous. Ctr., 815 F.2d 1343, 1349 (10th Cir. 1987) (unless context or congressional intent indicates otherwise, use of disjunctive in statute indicates that alternatives were intended); George Hyman Const. Co. v. Occupational Safety and Health Review Comm'n, 582 F.2d 834, 840 n.10 (4th Cir. 1978) (normally, use of a disjunctive in statute indicates alternative unless such construction renders provision repugnant); Azure v. Morton, 514 F.2d 897, 900 (9th Cir. 1975) (generally, use of disjunctive in statute indicates alternatives and requires that they be treated separately); Quindlen v. Prudential Ins. Co. of America, 482 F.2d 876, 878 (5th Cir. 1973) (generally, use of disjunctive in statute indicates alternatives and requires that those alternatives be treated separately).

which IP denies, it is still susceptible to reversal if any other element of MISS. CODE ANN. § 75-76-171(3) is met.

Eash disingenuously cites *Miss. Gaming Comm'n v. Freeman*, 747 So. 2d 231, 241 (Miss. 1999), and *IGT v. Kelly*, 778 So. 2d 773, 775-76 (Miss. 2001), as authority that the standard of review is whether "any evidence" exists upon which the MGC could have made such ruling, and that this "any evidence" standard applies to each of the five separate prongs set forth by Miss. Code Ann. § 75-76-171(3). *See* Eash's Brief pp. 8 and 10. However, a review of those decisions reveals that the *Freeman* and *Kelly* courts were faced with the determination of whether Miss. Code Ann. § 75-76-171(3)(d)'s "any evidence" standard or the "substantial evidence" general standard for decisions of other administrative agencies applied, and ruled in favor of the former. The *Freeman* Court firmly establishes from the opinion's beginning that Miss. Code Ann. § 75-76-171(3), with its five possible bases for reversal, is the applicable standard of review. *See Freeman*, 747 So. 2d at 239-40.

Indeed, if a court were to interpret MISS. CODE ANN. § 75-76-171(3) such that the "any evidence" standard applies to or overrides the other four prongs meriting reversal, then these other prongs would be rendered meaningless, which is contrary to the legislative intent and to canons of statutory construction. See Gilmer v. State, 955 So. 2d 829, 835 (Miss. 2007) (court is obliged, whenever reasonable, to reach an interpretation of a statute which gives effect to all the statutory language); Miss. Pub. Serv. Comm'n v. City of Jackson, 328 So. 2d 656, 658 (Miss. 1976) (courts are to give all parts of statute effect if possible); Davis v. Miller, 32 So. 2d 871, 890 (Miss. 1947) (courts cannot ascribe to any statute a construction which would make a part of

it meaningless and ineffective, if another reasonable construction can be found which will give meaning to all its parts).<sup>12</sup>

Under the applicable standard of review, the decision of the Circuit Court to reverse the decision of the MGC should be upheld because the MGC's decision was in violation of constitutional provisions, in excess of the statutory authority of the MGC, made upon unlawful procedure, unsupported by any evidence, arbitrary or capricious, and otherwise not in accordance with law, thereby prejudicing the substantial rights of IP.

# II. EASH'S ARGUMENT THAT IP SUFFERED NO SUBSTANTIAL PREJUDICE FROM THE MGC'S DECISION IS WHOLLY WITHOUT MERIT.

Eash argues that IP "was not prejudiced in any manner by the MGC's Final Order because petitioner/appellee IP is indemnified by IGT for any jackpot in excess of the conceded \$8,000 amount." Eash's Brief, p. 9. This argument is preposterous for two reasons: (1) as explained below, IP, the named party in this proceeding, clearly has suffered substantial prejudice as a result of the MGC's decision; and (2) the existence of an indemnity agreement between IP and IGT is irrelevant. 14

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>12</sup> To further illustrate the nonsensicality of Eash's argument: how could a reviewing court apply the "any evidence" standard, which is a factual standard, to some of the other prongs, such as "made upon unlawful procedure," which is clearly a legal standard? Eash would have a reviewing court compelled to uphold, for example, an MGC decision that violates the federal Constitution, so long as the decision was supported by a single shred of evidence.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>13</sup> IGT is the licensed manufacturer and distributor of the machine. In her brief, Eash erroneously states that "IGT...contends..." Eash's Brief, p. 6. As IGT is not a party to this case, IGT has not "contended" anything.

and that Imperial Palace's counsel "deliberately omitted IGT – the entity facing all contested liability – from its Certificate to the Circuit Court of Interested Parties." Eash's Brief, p. 10, n.1. First, IP's counsel of record represent IP in this case. Second, as discussed herein, IP is the party "facing liability" for Eash's jackpot in whatever amount ultimately determined through this judicial process. Third, with respect to IP's Certificate of Interested Persons in its brief before the Circuit Court, although IGT may be subject to indemnity in favor of IP, undersigned counsel did not include IGT in the Certificate because IGT is not a party to, nor an affiliate of a party to, these proceedings. No guidance exists in the law as to the degree of interest required to mandate a person's placement upon the Certificate of Interested Persons. Contrary to Eash's assertions, the non-inclusion of IGT in the Certificate was not sinister in nature, and

# A. IP Has Suffered Substantial Prejudice Due to the MGC's Decision.

Eash asserts that IP's rights cannot have been prejudiced by the MGC's decision because IP "is liable for \$8,000 (and only \$8,000)" due to its indemnity agreement with IGT. Eash's Brief, p. 9. This is completely untrue. The Executive Director's decision and the MGC's decision were rendered against IP, not IGT, and are enforceable against IP, not IGT. IP is the party that will be required to pay Eash her jackpot, in the amount ultimately determined by this judicial process, whether that amount is \$8,000 or \$1,000,000. Thus, IP's substantial rights clearly have been prejudiced by the MGC's decision.

Further, basic indemnity principles undermine Eash's position. It is an elementary principle of indemnity that an indemnitor is not liable to the indemnitee until the liability of the indemnitee has been established. This long-standing rule was described by the Mississippi Supreme Court in *Gully v. First Nat. Bank in Meridian*, 184 So. 615, 617 (Miss. 1938):

The contract is one of indemnity and a suit may not be brought by the creditor of the indemnitee against the indemnitor directly until the liability of the indemnitee has been established. An indemnity is more than a promise to pay; it is an agreement here to save harmless not made for the benefit of a third party, but an agreement strictly between the parties. The liability of the new bank [the indemnitor] arises exclusively out of its contract and cannot be extended beyond its terms to "save harmless."

That principle, that the indemnitee must be legally liable before the indemnitor's obligation to pay has been triggered, has been repeatedly upheld by the Mississippi Supreme Court. See Lloyd's of London v. Knostman, 783 So. 2d 694, 698 (Miss. 2001) (party seeking indemnity must

any deficiencies have certainly been cured by Eash's cries of conspiracy (both before the Circuit Court and this Court). Further, IGT would show that every licensed manufacturer, distributor, wide area progressive system operator and casino operator licensed in the State of Mississippi is "interested" in the outcome of this case, given the precendential effect of its determination. Accordingly, IP has before this Court included in its Certificate of Interested Persons "Manufacturers, distributors, wide area progressive system operators and casino operators licensed in the State of Mississippi."

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>15</sup> Although Eash points to no record evidence regarding indemnification between IP and IGT, the record provides evidence of such indemnification. Ex. 1/41.

prove (1) that it was legally liable to an injured party, (2) that it paid under compulsion, and (3) that the amount it paid was reasonable); *Smith v. H.C. Bailey Co.*, 477 So. 2d 224, 235 (Miss. 1985) ("the law requires one seeking indemnity to first prove actual legal liability to the party injured"); *Southwest Miss. Elec. Power Ass'n v. Harragill*, 182 So. 2d 220, 223 (1996) (same). Thus, any duty of IGT to indemnify IP arises only when IP becomes legally bound to pay any judgment against it; accordingly, IP's rights have been substantially prejudiced by the MGC's decision.

# B. The Existence of an Indemnity Agreement between IP and IGT is Not Relevant.

Further, the indemnity agreement between IGT and IP is not relevant to this proceeding. Eash's argument is directly analogous to arguing to a jury that they should return a verdict against a defendant because the defendant's insurer or indemnitor, not the defendant, will pay the judgment. The existence of insurance or an indemnity agreement has always been considered irrelevant to the issue of liability. *See, e.g., Mid-Continent Aircraft Corp. v. Whitehead*, 357 So. 2d 122, 124 (Miss. 1978) ("the general rule in this jurisdiction is that no reference should be made to the fact that a defendant is covered by liability insurance"); *Herrin v. Daly*, 31 So. 790, 791 (Miss. 1902) (holding that evidence of indemnification "could not conceivably throw any light on the issue, and could have no other tendency than to seduce a verdict on the ground that an insurance company, and not the defendants, would be affected"). This case is a matter of the application of basic contract law to the relevant facts, within the statutory framework established by the Mississippi Gaming Control Act, and not a single relevant fact is impacted by the existence of an indemnity agreement between IP and IGT.

# III. THE MGC'S DECISION WAS ARBITRARY OR CAPRICIOUS AND OTHERWISE NOT IN ACCORDANCE WITH LAW AS IT VIOLATED CLEARLY ESTABLISHED CONTRACT LAW.

Two of the bases for judicial review of a MGC decision are if the decision is arbitrary or capricious or otherwise "<u>not in accordance with law</u>," or if it is "made upon unlawful procedure." MISS. CODE ANN. § 75-76-171(3)(c) and (e) (emphasis added). As the Circuit Court found in this case, the MGC's decision was "not made in accordance with law, arbitrary and maybe arbitrary and capricious, and made upon unlawful procedure" as it refused to adhere to relevant contract law and its own prior decisions. <sup>16</sup> V. 1/59 (IP 2).

The MGC has seemingly taken the position that it is not required to follow contract law as set forth by judicial precedent or required to adhere to its own precedent. Indeed, the MGC implicitly recognized that it ignored the law, as MGC Chairman St. Pé stated that the MGC has "an obligation to go beyond the legal and technical issues and look at it from a perspective of equity and fairness" and that the Hearing Examiner "is somewhat restricted in moving toward her judgment and decision." V. 4/492 (IP 8) and V. 5/572 (IP 9).

Courts have ruled that administrative agencies are required to follow judicial precedent in their circuits. See Acre-Vences v. Mukasey, 512 F.3d 167, 172 (5<sup>th</sup> Cir. 2007); Nat'l Lab. Relations Bd. v. Ashkenazy Prop. Mgmt. Corp., 817 F.2d 74, 75 (9<sup>th</sup> Cir. 1987); Indus. TurnAround Corp. v. Nat'l Lab. Relations Bd., 115 F.3d 248, 254 (4<sup>th</sup> Cir. 1997); Lopez v. Heckler, 572 F.Supp. 26 (Cal. 1983), aff'd in part, rev'd in part, 725 F.2d 1489, 1503 (3<sup>rd</sup> Cir. 1979) vacated and remanded in light of new legislation, 469 U.S. 1082 (1984). See also 2 Am.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>16</sup>In her brief, Eash states that the Mississippi Supreme Court has recognized that the administrative process of the MGC is not limited to contract law, citing *Kelly*, 778 So. 2d at 777. Eash's Brief, p. 14. This statement is simply untrue. In *Kelly*, the Court did not make a determination as to whether the MGC is required to adhere to contract law principles; rather, it held that the MGC was not bound by another jurisdiction's decision. *Id.* at 776-77. Also, as Eash neglects to mention, the *Kelly* Court held that the MGC's adherence to MGC precedent was sound. *Id.* at 77.

JUR. 2d Adminlaw § 73 (federal agencies are required to abide by the law of the relevant federal judicial circuit). "A decision by the court, not overruled by the United States Supreme Court, is ... binding on all inferior courts and litigants in the [circuit], and also on administrative agencies." Ashkenazy, 817 F.2d at 75. The MGC deliberately refused to follow judicial and MGC precedent and instead ruled based on a perceived notion of "reasonable fairness or a perception of fairness." V. 5/572 (IP 9). This was error.

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